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Date:  December 11, 2017 
 
 
REQUEST for INFORMATION NO. GSS18817-REVENUE 
 
This Request for Information (RFI) will not result in award of a competitively bid 
contract.   
 
The State of Delaware, Division of Revenue (“State” or “DOR”), is seeking market 
information to assist with developing a plan to replace its current tax administration 
and tax collection systems with a modernized tax system utilizing modernized 
revenue business processes and technology solutions. The information gathered in 
response to this RFI may or may not lead to the issuance of a Request for 
Proposals.  Respondents will be asked to provide a functioning system as part of the 
trial period for evaluation.  This would only apply to commercial off-the-shelf (COTS) 
solutions. 
 
Responses to this Request for Information will remain confidential until such time as 
a determination is made on whether the State will move forward with a Request for 
Proposal to replace its tax administration and processing systems.  If a decision is 
made to move forward with a Request for Proposal, the responses to this Request 
for Information will remain confidential until the completion of the Request for 
Proposal process. 
 
All responses to this Request for Information shall be submitted in a sealed envelope 
clearly displaying the request for information number and vendor name by 
January 19, 2018 at 1:00 PM (Local Time). 
 
Responses must be mailed to: 
 
Jennifer Hudson 
Carvel State Office Building 
820 North French Street,  8th floor 
Wilmington, DE  19801 
Attn:  Jennifer Hudson 
 
Please review and follow the information and instructions contained in this RFI. 
Should you need additional information, please contact Daniel Forsee at 
Daniel.Forsee@state.de.us . 
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I. INTRODUCTION 
 

A. RFI DESIGNATED CONTACT 
 
All requests, questions, or other communications about this RFI shall be made in 
writing to the State of Delaware.  Address all communications to the person listed 
below; communications made to other State of Delaware personnel or attempting to 
ask questions by phone or in person will not be allowed or recognized as 
valid.  Vendors should rely only on written statements issued by the RFI designated 
contact. 
 
Jennifer Hudson 
Carvel State Office Building 
820 North French Street,  8th floor 
Wilmington, DE  19801 
Attn:  Jennifer Hudson 
To ensure that written requests are received and answered in a timely manner, 
electronic mail (e-mail) correspondence is acceptable, but other forms of delivery, 
such as postal and courier services can also be used. 
 

B. CONTACT WITH STATE EMPLOYEE 
 
Direct contact with State employees other than the State’s Designated Contact 
regarding this RFI is expressly prohibited without prior consent.  Exceptions exist 
only for organizations currently doing business in the State who require contact in the 
normal course of doing that business. 
 

C. RFI OBLIGATION 
 
The RFI is a request for information only. There will be no contract awarded as a 
result of this RFI. Nothing in the materials vendors provide, further referred to as 
Vendor Information Packages (VIP) as a response to this RFI nor the State’s 
remarks or responses to the VIP’s of any individual vendor, will be considered 
binding for a future contract. 
 

D. RFI QUESTION AND ANSWER PROCESS 
 
The State of Delaware will allow written requests for clarification of the RFI and its 
attachments.  All RFI questions shall be received no later than December 22, 2017. 
All questions will be consolidated into a single set of responses and posted on the 
State’s website at www.bids.delaware.gov by the date of  December 29, 2017.  
Vendor names will be removed from questions in the responses released.  Questions 
should be submitted in the following format.  Deviations from this format will not be 
accepted. 
 
Section number 
 
Paragraph number 
 
Page number 
 

http://www.bids.delaware.gov/
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Text of passage being questioned 
 
All questions may be submitted by email to: Daniel.Forsee@state.de.us. 
 
Or, questions may be submitted by mail to the RFI designated contact address 
identified above, but must be received by the “no later than” RFI questions deadline 
specified.  
 
Questions not submitted electronically shall be accompanied by a CD and all 
questions shall be formatted in Microsoft Word. 
 
 

II. SCOPE OF WORK 
  

A. PURPOSE / BACKGROUND 
  
The purpose of this RFI is to provide DOR with information regarding vendor interest 
and capabilities providing tax processing, tax administration and tax collection 
systems. The State of Delaware invites vendors to submit their capabilities and 
interests relative to this RFI. The State of Delaware may reference this material as 
indicative of industry capabilities and in the event the State of Delaware issues a 
Request for Proposals (RFP), the State may use this material to facilitate the 
development of the RFP or the establishment of standards and policies. 
  

B. STATEMENT OF NEEDS 
 
The State of Delaware, DIVISION OF REVENUE (“DOR”), issues this RFI for the 
purpose of identifying vendors who offer a COTS system,  that is already in a 
production environment, designed for the processing, administration, collection, and 
accounting of state taxes.  DOR is hoping to identify a solution that will provide the 
flexibility needed to be successful in a complex, dynamic environment by enabling 
the ability to implement changes to existing tax types as needed, as well as enabling 
the addition of new tax types and updated functionality.  This technology must be an 
integrated tool for the business, blend with future technology, streamline current 
processes for revenue administration, and enhance the level of service provided to 
our taxpayers.  
 
The Delaware Division of Revenue has launched an initiative to modernize revenue 
business processes and technology solutions. This modernization project will include 
implementation of an integrated tax system (ITS) that automates major state revenue 
tax functions including Compliance, Operations, Finance/Internal Audit, Information 
Technology and Customer Service. 
 
The purpose of this RFI is to request responses and onsite demonstrations and 
presentations from qualified vendors with production-proven COTS packages.  
Through this RFI process Delaware will review solution functionality, collect 
additional information, and/or gain clarification on RFI response details. Delaware is 
interested in evaluating  approaches, timelines and costs for implementing a 
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modernization roadmap that provide the earliest benefit to tax payers as part of a 
phased implementation approach  
 
Qualified vendors must have the ability and proven track record to implement their 
COTS package for a variety of tax types, including individual, business, pass-
through, gross receipts, property, and special taxes. Qualified vendors should also 
have experience completing multiple implementations for comparable U.S. states.  
 
Using vendor’s production proven COTS solution, the State of Delaware is seeking 
to meet the following goals: 
• Modernize our platform and incorporate all DOR taxes into a fully integrated 

taxpayer-centric system 
• Increase nimbleness and flexibility to quickly implement legislative and 

compliance changes 
• Improve overall operational efficiency, effectiveness and staff productivity 
• Improve capabilities to increase current revenue channels and create new 

channels 
• Upgrade our processing platform to the latest technologies and provide technical 

updates in an economic manner on an ongoing basis 
• Enhance security features and maintain ongoing industry best-practices as more 

highly secure methods and practices become available 
 

C. TIMETABLE 
The following timeline is only an illustration of this RFI process.  The dates 
associated with each step are not to be considered binding. 
 

Activity Date 

Issuance of RFI December 11, 2017  

Deadline to Submit Written Questions (3pm Eastern Time) December 29, 2017 

Response to Written Questions/RFI Amendments January 8, 2018 

Due Date for Submissions January 19, 2018 

On-Site Visits January 29, 2018 – 
February 2, 2018 

 
On site visits will be scheduled to allow presentations and demonstrations of 
products and solutions.  It is expected that a working trial and demonstration version 
be provided during these sessions and made available for a period of time following 
the sessions.  This will provide the State of Delaware an opportunity to identify 
industry best practices that can be included in any subsequent RFPs and allow the 
State of Delaware to get familiar with the vendor COTS products. 
 
On site visits will be held at the following location: 
 
State of Delaware 
Government Support Services 
100 Enterprise Place, Suite 4 
Dover, DE 19904 
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D. OVERVIEW OF DOR 

 
Delaware Division of Revenue administers the tax system for the State of Delaware.  
As the primary revenue collector for the State, the Delaware Division of Revenue's 
mission is to collect 100% of the taxes and other revenues required by law to be 
remitted to the State of Delaware, no more and no less, and strive to do so in a 
manner that creates the highest possible level of satisfaction on the part of our 
customers. We take great pride in the competence, courtesy, effectiveness and 
efficiency of the Division and are consistently ranked, by Governing Magazine, as 
one of the top state revenue agencies in the country. 
 
 

E. OVERVIEW OF NEEDS 
 
DOR is considering pursuing a replacement system through this project to 
significantly improve business processes, create agency efficiencies, improve 
taxpayer service, reduce uncollected delinquent taxes, and implement new laws 
more effectively. Examples of functions that DOR is seeking in the COTS solution 
are: 
 
• Taxpayer registrations; 
• Returns processing – original and amended; 
• Payment processing, including extension and estimated tax payments; 
• Refunds processing; 
• Field and internal audits and assessments; 
• Identification of fraud, non-filers, and other non-compliant actions; 
• Taxpayer account management; 
• Case management – tracking and management of outstanding collection, audit, 

appeal, and investigation/enforcement cases; 
• Revenue accounting and revenue and data tracking/reporting (e.g. distribution, 

trend analysis, general ledger, workflow management, accounts receivable); 
• A flexible interface approach for setup and administration of  third party sources 

(such as the Internal Revenue Service, other State agencies, financial 
institutions, and external collection agencies) to send and receive data in support 
of a variety of tax compliance programs.  

 
The COTS solution must: 
 

• Be in current production use in multiple state tax agencies comparable to the size 
and complexity of Delaware DOR. 

• Be utilized for multiple tax types. 
• Provide core tax administration functions (registration, return processing, payment 

processing, refund processing, collections, audit, revenue accounting) and include 
functional capabilities such as e-services, analytics, reporting, data warehousing, 
electronic content management, security, search, and lead discovery. 

• Provide integrated applications and tools, including robust reporting, to support the 
agency’s business processes. 

• Offer up-to-date technology for all tax system functions. 
• Post changes immediately, i.e., real-time processing, with proper audit trails. 
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• Streamline current processes for revenue administration and improve services to 
taxpayers. 

• Be highly flexible and able to implement new legislative changes quickly. 
• Ensure that access to and coordination of information is managed in alignment with 

DOR decision support needs and in compliance with Federal and State law. 
• Provide comprehensive access in a unified format to all of a taxpayer’s transactions 

(including multiple tax types and multiple relationships/affiliations) within a single 
system. 

• Enhance web services for the taxpayer. 
• Accommodate regular upgrades. 
• Be fully compliant with IRS publication 1075. 

 
F. CURRENT TAX TYPES  

 
The Delaware has several different tax types and returns: 
 

INCOME TAX 

PERSONAL INCOME TAX  CORPORATE INCOME TAX 

FIDUCIARY INCOME TAX  SUBCHAPTER S RETURN 

PARTNERSHIP RETURN  LICENSE TAX 

GROSS RECEIPTS TAX – OCCUPATIONAL  GROSS RECEIPTS TAX – RETAILERS 

GROSS RECEIPTS TAX – WHOLESALERS  GROSS RECEIPTS TAX – MANUFACTURERS 

TAXES COLLECTED OR WITHHELD 

WITHHOLDING MONTHLY TAX  WITHHOLDING QUARTERLY TAX 

PUBLIC ACCOMMODATIONS TAX  PUBLIC UTILITIES TAX 

E-911 SURCHARGE  MANUFACTURED HOME RENTAL FEE 

EXCISE TAXES 

ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE TAX  OTHER TOBACCO PRODUCT 

CIGARETTE STAMPS  ABC LICENSE & FEE 

Document Recording Fee 

REALTY TRANSFER TAX   

Escheat (remit and refund) 

ESCHEAT - FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS   ESCHEAT - ESTATES & COURTS 

ESCHEAT - CORPORATIONS AND FINANCIAL 
INTERMEDIARIES 

 ESCHEAT - LIFE INSURANCE 

MISCELLANEOUS 

PENALTIES  INTEREST 

BAD CHECK FEES   

 
G. REQUESTED INFORMATION 

 
1. Commercial Off-the-Shelf (COTS) 
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a. What components and functionality do you offer as COTS? 
b. What 3rd party products do you recommend for your solution? 
c. Describe where your product is in its product life-cycle. 
d. When are you expecting a new major release?  What new features or 

enhancements are you expecting to include? 
e. Describe your experience with interfacing to existing enterprise revenue 

accounting and business registry processes, as well as interfacing with 
existing peripheral enterprise systems (e.g., remittance and return 
processing, 3rd party correspondence tracking). 

f. Describe your recommended implementation/project execution strategy? 
g. Describe the biggest challenges other states and municipalities have 

encountered while working with your team and/or your COTS solution? 
h. How did your COTS help other customers increase organization revenue?  

Are you able to quantify the amount? 
 

2. Configuration and Custom Components Integration 
 

a. Describe the types of configurations that can be made for the COTS. How 
easily can you add/change functionality so that new requirements can be 
accommodated in the future?  Which parts of your COTS are configurable 
so that a trained Taxation administrator can make the modifications and 
enhancements? 

b. How would you accommodate user defined fields?  Would they be treated 
as a customization or a configuration?  Can you use these user defined fields 
for reporting, querying, and other processing? 

c. What portions of the COTS are customizable?  What types of customizations 
have you implemented in the past, including interfacing with enterprise level 
systems? 

d. Describe your approach to maintenance of customizations (e.g., new 
releases). 

e. What functional components do you recommend as interfaced custom 
components that would not be part of your COTS solution? 

f. How do you integrate the custom components with the COTS components? 
g. DEDOR administers the processing of revenues, State-wide, via an 

advanced front end paper processing platform along with electronic payment 
services based on payment cards and ACH services.  Can your system 
interface with enterprise, cross agency operations such as this?  If so, 
describe how. 

h. How do you support licensing functionality? 
i. What is your approach to miscellaneous taxes, such as motor fuel and 

cigarette taxes? 
 
3. Implementation Plan & Approach 
 

a. Describe your software/system development methodology. 
b. Discuss the type of implementation approach(es) you use and the benefits 

of the approach(es). 
c. Should the implementation be phased?   If yes, how do you recommend that 

the phases and delivery be implemented?   
d. Please supply a sample implementation schedule and plan that you have 

used for a similar past project. 
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e. Describe your recommended environments (development, testing, 
production, etc.). 

f. Describe your approach to testing.  Do you use automated tools for systems 
and stress tests. 

g. Do you provide post implementation support services? If so, please describe 
the different arrangements you have been party to and the associated team 
structure incorporated. 

h. Describe your approach to knowledge transfer and training. 
i. Please recommend desired skills and resources (number and roles) of State 

personnel during implementation and post-implementation. 
j. How would recommend DEDOR prepare to work with you on the project 

(your description of ideal readiness)?  In your answer describe the skills 
DEDOR should assign to the project.   

 
4. User Interface Approach 
 

a. Describe user interface (UI) features. 
b. Is the UI configurable?  If so, what features of the UI are configurable?  Can 

configurations be performed by a trained State administrator? 
c. Is your solution 508 compliant for individuals with disabilities? 
d. Please supply sample UI screens in your written response. 

 
5. Business Rules 
 

a. Describe your approach to business rules.  What functions can be supported 
by business rules?  What application modules are supported by business 
rules? 

b. How are the rules maintained? 
c. Do you interface with 3rd party business rules engines?  Do you use 

proprietary business rules tool(s)?  If 3rd party, what are they? 
d. Do you have different business rules capabilities or engines for different 

types of rules (e.g., case rules, edit rules, posting rules, Forms Definition 
Facility (FDF) rules, calculations)? 

e. Do you have flexibility for different rules based on tax type?  If no, explain. 
f. Do you have a starter set of business rules that you bring to an engagement?  

If so, what type(s) of rules? 
g. What business rules would you recommend gathering before the arrival of 

the vendor? 
h. How can we prepare for the re-use of existing business rules? 

 
6. Customer Relationship Management (CRM), Electronic Content Management, and 

Correspondence Tracking 
DEDOR is interested in capturing and tracking all correspondence into and out of the 
agency. DEDOR has various tools in place to handle these activities, including 
facilities that make use of the existing enterprise image repository.  The State 
believes that the key to success in this area is to establish, through new and/or 
enhanced facilities, an environment in which all communications can be captured, 
categorized, linked (e.g., by taxpayer, subject, priority, etc.), routed, 
tracked/managed, stored, accessed and reported on through a single user interface. 

a. Describe your approach to electronic content management and CRM. 
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b. Electronic Content Management (ingest via scanning and other means, 
image, store, manage, track, archive, and destruction of 
electronic documents) 
i. In your approach, do you generally interface with a 3rd party electronic 

content management system, or do you incorporate electronic content 
management functionality within your solution?  If external, which external 
products are you compatible? Describe the functionality.  DEDOR uses 
Fairfax and IBML as our scanning solution for paper ingestion. 

ii. Can your electronic content management solution include managing 
documents not related to a specific taxpayer (e.g., tax related legislative 
bill comments)? 

iii. Does your electronic content management solution support a redaction 
capability? 

iv. What is your approach to producing letters from letter templates (e.g., tax 
notices)? 

c. Correspondence and Tracking 
i. What is your approach to tracking all communication to and from a 

taxpayer (e.g., bills, notices, instant messages, letters, images, emails)? 
ii. What is your recommended approach for electronic correspondence, 

such as secure email communication or instant messaging to and from a 
taxpayer?  Do you use encryption?  If yes, define. 

iii. How is electronic correspondence indexed? 
iv. Can incoming electronic correspondence from a taxpayer be 

automatically routed to the proper destination within DEDOR?  If so, how? 
v. Describe your approach to interfacing with email systems, such as 

Microsoft Outlook, including cloud based platforms.  Does your approach 
incorporate automatically triggering emails to external customers based 
on processing rules? 

vi. How do you process paper incoming and outgoing correspondence (e.g., 
converting to electronic, indexing, storing, and retrieval)?  Describe how 
your approach works with 3rd party products.  If your system does not 
provide for interfacing with 3rd party products, explain the advantages of 
this approach. 

vii. How do you track and measure DEDOR responses to taxpayer inquiries? 
viii. What metrics are used for managing customer service requests (e.g., 

response time in answering a request, backlog, volume of customer 
requests and completion)? 

 
7. Workflow 
 

a. Describe your approach to workflow 
b. In your approach, do you generally interface with a 3rd party workflow 

system, or do you incorporate workflow functionality within your solution?  
What are the advantages of an internal- only approach? Describe 
functionality. 

c. If you interface with a 3rd party workflow system, which products do you 
recommend? 

d. Is your workflow comprehensive across all application components or just 
within case management (e.g., customer requests)? 

 
8. Reporting 
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a. Describe your approach to production, canned, and ad hoc reporting 
b. In your approach, do you generally interface with a 3rd party reporting tool 

or do you incorporate reporting functionality within your solution?  If internal, 
what features do you have within your solution? 

c. If you interface with a 3rd party reporting tool, with which products are you 
compatible? Describe functionality. 

d. Do you support dashboard and other graphical reporting capabilities? 
Describe. 

e. What types of reports would you recommend from the operational database 
and from the data warehouse? 

f. In your approach, can trained user/administrators create their own reports? 
 
9. Data Warehousing and Operational Database 
 

a. What database vendors does your product interface with?  Do you have a 
recommended database vendor? 

b. Does a database solution come incorporated into your offering? 
c. What data do you usually store in the data warehouse vs. the operational 

system? 
d. How integrated is your discovery and scoring with the data warehouse? 
e. What analytical and business intelligence tools do you provide or use?  Can 

3rd party tools be used? 
f. What analytical tool do you recommend to be used against the data 

warehouse for trending and forecasting? 
g. Is your operational database compliant with IRS Publication 1075, the 

federal guidelines for safeguarding federal tax data? 
h. Do you have an approach to "data mining" the warehouse for trends and 

patterns of data? 
i. Do you use dashboard tools to visualize analytical data? 

 
 
10. Taxpayer Accounting, Case Management, Fraud Detection, and Audit 
 

a. Do you support the ability to show which calculation was used for penalty 
and interest? 

b. How do you perform mass adjustments to all or selected taxpayers? 
c. Describe your general approach to case management.  Define how you 

interpret “case.” 
d. At what point do you recommend creating a case (e.g., after the first notice 

has been sent with no reply)? 
e. Describe how you support the complete life cycle of a case, including audit, 

conference and appeals, litigation, and collection activity? 
f. Describe your case structure (e.g. case, sub-case).  Can you support 

multiple levels of sub-cases? 
g. Can you support user defined fields for a case?  Would they be treated as a 

customization or a configuration?  Can you use these user defined fields for 
reporting, querying, statistical analysis and other processing? 

h. Can you manage the individual liabilities within a case (e.g., taking specific 
action on a single liability, management of the statute of limitations for a 
specific tax type, closing out a liability)?  If so, describe any limitations. 

i. How do you handle judgments? 
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j. How can the case management functionality be used other than for the 
traditional collections, audit, and enforcement (e.g., customer service, tax 
clearance research request)? 

k. Can the case management functionality allow for a case without liabilities 
(e.g., a criminal case, possible fraud)? 

l. Does your solution include case management as an integrated component, 
or does the solution interface with a 3rd party case management module? 
i. If your functionality is integrated within your solution, what is the 

functionality of your case management module or capability (e.g., attach 
documents, images, events, involved persons; merge or separate cases, 
relate cases)? 

ii. If a 3rd party case management, what are the products with which you 
interface?  Describe functionality. 

m. What reporting capabilities are available with case management (e.g., aging 
reports)? 

n. In your approach, do you generally interface with a 3rd party audit system, 
or do you incorporate audit functionality within your solution?  If external, 
which external products are you compatible? Please describe functionality. 

o. How do you handle audit work papers?   How does the package show 
recalculations? 

p. Do you support time tracking for audits?  For case processing?  If so, 
describe. 

q. Do you support “standalone” capability for field personnel, including the 
downloading of taxpayer information to a local machine and the 
synchronization of data when back online?  If so, describe. 

r. Do you have the capability of adding user defined fields within the case 
management functionality? 

s. Describe your abilities for DEDOR to reduce fraud? 
t. Describe any functionality included in your solution that supports unclaimed 

property. 
u. Describe any additional revenue functions supported by the COTS solution 

(i.e., licensing escheat, etc.) 
 
11. Legacy System Data Conversion 
 

a. How would you manage the legacy data conversion and cleansing activities? 
b. What is your methodology for data conversion of legacy data to your COTS? 
c. What tools do you use for data conversions? 
d. Describe the types of data you recommend to be converted.  How many 

years of historical data are typically converted? 
e. What is your recommended approach for interfacing with legacy data that is 

not converted into the new system? 
f. What data conversion efforts and types of data conversion do you 

recommend prior to the arrival of the vendor? 
 
12. Technical Architecture 
 

a. Describe recent technological advances made in the industry which you now 
incorporate into your approach. 

b. Is your COTS cloud enabled?  If so, what hosting services have been used 
with your COTS? 
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c. Do you conform to a standard architectural framework supporting open 
system standards?  If so, describe. 

d. Describe how the use of open hardware and software standards support 
portability of your solution, allowing interfacing with existing agency or 3rd 
party systems. 

e. Which components support open systems architecture to accept plug-ins 
and bolt-ons? 

f. Define the required architectural components and recommended vendor 
products (hardware and software vendors) for these architectural layers.  
Include diagrams, if available. 
i. Software Architecture 
ii. Platform Architecture 
iii. Application Architecture 
iv. Database Platform 

g. Describe your recommended approach for remote access (e.g., field 
auditors, field investigators). 

h. Describe any mobile technologies you have successfully deployed, including 
mobile applications for Android and iOS (or other mobile solutions). 

i. Do you support tablet PCs or iPads?  If you do, provide a compatibility list. 
j. Describe the security and audit (accountability) components of your solution. 
k. How does your system support and leverage Geographic Information 

Systems (GIS)? 
 
13. Web Capabilities 

 
a. Is your solution web-based?   If not, describe. 
b. Describe your product’s ability to provide secure, on-line web-based services 

including but not limited to the following: 
i. Electronic Returns Filing – Needs to be expandable to any tax type 

Taxation administers and address the enterprise; 
ii. Payments – Interface with the enterprise systems noted previously and 

allow taxpayers to view schedule of liabilities and make payments for 
specific periods and tax types; 

iii. Payment Plans – Set up payment plans for Taxation approval; 
iv. Demographic Updates – Allow taxpayers to change demographic 

information; 
v. Registrations – Interface with the enterprise systems, which allow 

taxpayers a web entry point to register for taxes and receive applicable 
tax numbers; 

vi. Taxpayer Single Sign-on – Single sign-on for taxpayers to all on-line 
services, and provide sign-on and password management capability; 

vii. Uploading of taxpayer documents; and 
viii. Secure email services between the taxpayer and the State (possible 

interface with 3rd party email system). 
c. How extensible is the functionality of your taxpayer web portal?  Can it 

accommodate other tax and licensing functions? 
d. What is your approach for interfacing with other business portals? 

 
14. External Interfaces 
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a. Describe your approach to interfacing with external technical components, 
such as an existing Interactive Voice Response (IVR) system, email system, 
USPS, SMS, web and mobile applications, etc. 

b. Describe how your system interfaces with: 
i. Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT); 
ii. Modernized e-File (MeF); 
iii. Direct debit; 
iv. Retrieval of images from 3rd party platforms and your own platform; and 
v. Credit cards. 

c. What is your approach to interfacing with various platforms (e.g., mainframe, 
client server, web)? 

d. Describe your approach to developing external interfaces with other 
agencies. 

e. Does your solution support the many interfaces required to administer Set-
Off programs, such as Set-Off of Individual Liability (SOIL) or Federal Offset 
of Individual Liability (FOIL)? 

f. Describe your approach to interfacing with imaging systems such as IBML 
and Fairfax. 

 
15. Maintenance and Upgradeability 
 

a. If you provide hardware, describe your approach to maintenance. 
b. Describe your approach to software maintenance. 
c. Can DEDOR make necessary code changes for interfaces, extensions, 

reporting, configurations and/or business rules? 
d. What is the recommended vendor maintenance schedule for your solution? 
e. Describe your training processes to onboard developers to support your 

solution. 
f. Describe how the State will stay current with new releases assuming there 

will be required customizations for Delaware. 
g. How do you determine what should be included in a new release, if there are 

competing demands from your customer base? 
h. Describe your product warranties. 
i. Describe your process, frequency, and testing timelines of GA releases. 
j. Describe how the user community for your solution?  Is there some type of 

recurring user conference? 
 
16. Miscellaneous Vendor Input 

a. Please provide any helpful hints for RFP preparation and RFP process. 
b. DEDOR requests responders recommend what kind of statistics, 

documentation, and information that DEDOR should furnish bidders in a 
future RFP and what the significance or criticality of that information would 
be on the success of procurement. 

 
 

III. VENDOR INFORMATION PACKAGE (VIP) REQUIREMENTS 
  

A. COVER LETTER 
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Each VIP response will have a cover letter on the letterhead of the company or 
organization submitting the response.  The cover letter must briefly summarize the 
Vendor's ability to provide the services specified in the RFI. The cover letter must 
also identify a contact person which includes a phone number an email address. 
 

B. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES AND QUALIFICATIONS 
  
Each response must contain a detailed description of how the Vendor could provide 
the goods and services outlined in this RFI. This part of the response may also 
include descriptions of any enhancements or additional services or qualifications the 
Vendor will provide that are not mentioned in this RFI. 
 

C. NUMBER OF COPIES WITH MAILING OF RESPONSE 
 
Each VIP response must be submitted with one (1) paper copy and one (1) 
electronic copy on CD or DVD media disk.  VIP responses are to be sent to the State 
of Delaware and received no later than 1:00 PM (Local Time) on January 19, 2018.  
The VIP response may be delivered by Express Delivery (e.g., FedEx, UPS, etc.), 
US Mail, or by hand to: 
 
Jennifer Hudson 
Carvel State Office Building 
820 North French Street,  8th floor 
Wilmington, DE  19801 
Attn:  Jennifer Hudson 
Any response submitted by US Mail shall be sent by either certified or registered 
mail.  Any response received after the date and time deadline referenced above shall 
be returned unopened.   
 

IV. VENDOR INFORMATION PACKAGE (VIP) RESPONSE 
 

A. SERVICE 
 
Identify which service under Statement of Need you have the capability to provide. In 
the event a vendor is capable of providing more than one of the services identified, 
please separate the VIP response by service. 
 

B. EXPERIENCE 
 
Provide a representative list of Federal, State, Local Agencies, and businesses for 
which you have provided these types of services.  Include deployment dates, 
challenges, and successes where applicable. 
 

C. PRICING 
 
Provide pricing options for primary solution and break out of available functions 
included with the solution versus add-on functions.  This should distinguish the 
standard, configurable, and custom components based on the needs of DEDOR. 
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D. EQUIPMENT 
 
Provide information on the equipment requirements related to on premise, cloud, 
hybrid, or hosted architecture.  In addition, regulatory requirement certification, 
patching methodology, and upgrade lifecycle information should be available.  If you 
offer multiple equipment configurations, please group them based on the solution. 
 
  

E. DATA SECURITY 
 
Provide information related to your data security practices.  List all certifications.  If 
you require access to the solution provided (i.e., for support or upgrades), describe 
your user access controls, background check, separation of duties, and mechanism 
to ensure isolation of sensitive data.  Address whether your product complies with 
the requirements of IRS Publication 1075. 

 
F. DOCUMENTATION 

 
Provide information documentation for your product(s).  This should include user 
manuals, online training, videos, FAQs, or guides as available.  Please describe how 
information would be accessed for end users and developers. 
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